ILSI Europe Report Series

Consumer

Understanding of Health Claims



Summary report of a workshop held in May 2006

Organised by the ILSI Europe Consumer Science Task Force

About ILSI / ILSI Europe

The International Life Sciences Institute (ILSI) is a nonprofit, worldwide foundation established in 1978 to advance the understanding of scientific issues relating to nutrition, food safety, toxicology, risk assessment, and the environment. By bringing together scientists from academia, government, industry, and the public sector, ILSI seeks a balanced approach to solving problems of common concern for the well being of the general public. ILSI is headquartered in Washington, DC, USA. Branches include Argentina, Brazil, Europe, India, Japan, Korea, Mexico, North Africa and Gulf Region, North America, North Andean, South Africa, South Andean, Southeast Asia Region, the focal point in China, and the ILSI Health and Environmental Sciences Institute (HESI). ILSI is affiliated with the World Health Organization as a non-governmental organisation (NGO) and has specialised consultative status with the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

ILSI Europe was established in 1986 to identify and evaluate scientific issues related to the above topics through symposia, workshops, expert groups, and resulting publications. The aim is to advance the understanding and resolution of scientific issues in these areas. ILSI Europe is funded primarily by its industry members.

This publication is made possible by support of the ILSI Europe Task Force on Consumer Science, which is under the umbrella of the Board of Directors of ILSI Europe. ILSI policy mandates that the ILSI and ILSI branch Boards of Directors must be composed of at least 50% public sector scientists; the remaining directors represent ILSI's member companies. Listed hereunder are the ILSI Europe Board of Directors and the ILSI Europe Task Force on Consumer Science industry members.

ILSI Europe Board of Directors

Non-industry members

Prof. M. Carruba, University of Milan (IT)

Prof. G. Eisenbrand, University of Kaiserslautern (DE)

Prof. A. Grynberg, Université Paris Sud – INRA (FR)

Dr. I. Knudsen, Danish Institute for Food and Veterinary Research (retired) (DK)

Dr. M. Kovac, Permanent Representation of the Slovak Republic to FAO and WFP (SK)

Prof. em. G. Pascal, National Institute for Agronomic

Research - INRA (FR)

Prof. S. Strain, University of Ulster (UK)

Prof. V. Tutelyan, National Nutrition Institute (RU)

Prof. G. Varela-Moreiras, University San Pablo-CEU of

Madrid (ES)

Prof. em. P. Walter, University of Basel (CH)

Industry members

Mr. R. Fletcher, Kellogg (IE)

Dr. A. Grant, Kraft Foods (UK)

Dr. M.E. Knowles, Coca-Cola European Union Group (BE)

Dr. G. Kozianowski, Südzucker (DE)

Prof. T. Mattila-Sandholm, Valio (FI)

Dr. D.J.G. Müller, Procter & Gamble (DE)

Dr. G. Thompson, Groupe Danone (FR)

Prof. P. van Bladeren, Nestlé (CH)

Prof. W.M.J. van Gelder, Numico (NL)

Dr. H. Zevenbergen, Unilever (NL)

ILSI Europe Consumer Science Task Force industry members

Coca-Cola European Union Group Friesland Foods Groupe Danone Kraft Foods Nestlé Procter & Gamble Royal Ahold Südzucker Unilever



CONSUMER UNDERSTANDING OF HEALTH CLAIMS

By Peter Leathwood, Hal MacFie and Hans van Trijp

SUMMARY REPORT OF A WORKSHOP HELD IN MAY 2006 IN FLORENCE, ITALY ORGANISED BY THE ILSI EUROPE CONSUMER SCIENCE TASK FORCE

OCTOBER 2007

© 2007 ILSI Europe

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the copyright holder. Authorisation to photocopy items for internal or personal use is granted by ILSI Europe for libraries and personal users.

ILSI®, "A Global Partnership for a Safer, Healthier World.®", and the International Life Sciences Institute (ILSI) logo image of the microscope over the globe are registered trademarks of the International Life Sciences Institute and licensed for use by ILSI Europe. The use of trade names and commercial sources in this document is for purposes of identification only and does not imply endorsement by ILSI Europe. In addition, the views expressed herein are those of the individual authors and/or their organisations, and do not necessarily reflect those of ILSI Europe.

For more information about ILSI Europe, please contact:

ILSI Europe a.i.s.b.l. Avenue E. Mounier 83, Box 6 B-1200 Brussels Belgium Phone: (+32) 2 771 00 14 Fax: (+32) 2 762 00 44

E-mail: info@ilsieurope.be Website: http://europe.ilsi.org

Printed in Belgium

D/2007/10.996/8

ISBN 9789078637073

CONTENTS

FOREWORD	4
OBJECTIVES OF THE WORKSHOP	5
REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	6
SESSION 1: REVIEW OF THE EXPERT GROUP WORKING PAPER	8
Qualitative approaches	8
Quantitative approaches to health claims research	8
The decision heuristic approach	9
Purchase and consumption data: collection, analysis and utilisation	9
SESSION 2: PRACTICAL EXPERIENCES FROM REGULATORY INSTITUTIONS	10
The Food Standards Agency (United Kingdom)	10
The US experience with health claims	10
Health claims in Sweden	11
SESSION 3: PRACTICAL EXAMPLES FROM THE FOOD INDUSTRY	12
Spreads with plant sterols	12
Whole grains	12
Probiotics	13
SESSION 4: CONSUMER PERSPECTIVES	14
A consumer research agency point of view	14
WORKING GROUPS	15
A: Impact of the regulation on market research and consumer science needs	15
B: Description of the average consumer and the intended consumer	15
C and D: Identification of the strengths and weaknesses of each proposed methodology /	17
Definition of consumer understanding	
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	19
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	21
REFERENCES	21
WORKSHOP PARTICIPANTS	22

Authors: Peter Leathwood, Nestlé (CH), Hal MacFie (UK) and Hans van Trijp, Wageningen University and Unilever (NL)
Report Series Editor: Kevin Yates (UK)

Coordinator: Fabienne Malherbe, ILSI Europe (BE)

FOREWORD

Provided that they are scientifically substantiated, nutrition and health claims linked to food products can help consumers make well-informed food choices. The new European legislation on nutrition and health claims made on foods was published on 30 December 2006 (with a corrigendum published on 18 January 2007). This law sets out conditions for their use, establishes a system for their scientific evaluation and will create European lists of authorised claims. An important aspect of this legislation is that it states (Article 5.2) "the use of nutrition and health claims shall only be permitted if the average consumer can be expected to understand the beneficial effects as expressed in the claim".

In anticipation of this legislation coming into force, the ILSI Europe Consumer Science Task Force set up an expert group activity and prepared a paper to address the issues that will be faced by legislators and producers in implementing this legislation. The paper also summarises some of the scientific approaches and decision-making frameworks that could be used to provide and assess the evidence of consumers' understanding of health claims to support submissions for new claims. The Task Force also convened a workshop on "Consumer Understanding of Health Claims" in Florence on 17–19 May 2006 to comment on the draft of the paper and to stimulate the debate on methodologies that need to be developed to assess consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims. The timing of this workshop was particularly appropriate as the voting on the second reading of the law took place on 16 May 2006. The format of the workshop was a series of presentations to inform the participants about the current state of the development of the legislation, the problems that are likely to be faced in implementing it and the science that could be used to support submissions. Participants then joined one of four working groups to debate specific aspects and make recommendations.

This report summarises the results of that workshop and makes recommendations on the evidence and research that is needed to support the practical application of the legislation. It also gives guidance to producers about consumer research that should be used to support submissions.

OBJECTIVES OF THE WORKSHOP

The goals of the workshop were to:

- Review the meaning of consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims in the new regulatory context
- Consider the implications for consumer science and market research of nutrition and health claims
- Illustrate the use of nutrition and health claims in the market place
- Review methodologies for consumer research on understanding health claims, including qualitative and quantitative approaches, heuristics and data on purchase and consumption
- Recommend appropriate methodological approaches to demonstrate adequate consumer understanding proportionate to the nature of the claim
- Stimulate the debate and identify gaps and research needs

The new legislation identifies four types of claim:

- (1) Content claims
- (2) Health claims based on generally accepted evidence
- (3) Health claims based on new evidence
- (4) Health claims related to reduction of disease risk or children's development or health

It also specifies that claims will only be permitted if the average consumer can be expected to understand the beneficial effect as expressed in the claim and, if a claim is aimed at a particular group of consumers, that the impact of the claim can be assessed on average members of that group.

The workshop addressed the question of how to assess consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims as required by the legislation. It began by exploring the processes involved in consumer understanding (and misunderstanding) and the methodologies most appropriate to study them. This was followed by an outline of the practical experiences of regulators, which indicated that consumers do have difficulty understanding some claims and may in some circumstances over-interpret them. The third session used three case studies from industry to illustrate the methods used and the problems encountered in assessing consumer understanding of the claimed benefits. In the fourth session a representative from a consumer research company outlined the methods used to assess consumer understanding of claims in the full context of the product, the packaging and the advertising.

The participants then split into four working groups to discuss different aspects of the problem of assessing consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims and to develop recommendations.

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

avid Richardson (DPR Nutrition, United Kingdom) gave an overview of the new European legislation. The new European legislation on nutrition and health claims made on food (published in December 2006) sets out conditions for their use, establishes a system for scientific evaluation of the claims and will create European Community lists of authorised claims. The new law emphasises that claims on foods will only be permitted if the average consumer can be expected to understand the beneficial effects as expressed in the claim and that it is appropriate to protect all consumers from misleading claims.

Claims will be broadly classified into four groups and each group will have a specific authorisation procedure.

The first group concerns "content" claims for nutrients and "other substances" that influence growth, development or the functions of the body. Many nutrition claims are listed already, such as low energy, fat-free, high fibre, source of vitamin (e.g. vitamin C), etc., and each has specific conditions applying to it. Comparative claims can also be made if they relate to the same quantity of food and between foods of the same category. Other substance content claims such as omega-3, prebiotics, probiotics etc. can be added to the list by a Committee Procedure described in Article 25 (2). The Commission will involve, where appropriate, interested parties, in particular food business operators and consumer groups, to evaluate the perception and understanding of the claims in question.

The second group comprises health claims¹, based on generally accepted scientific evidence under Article 13.1, that describe or refer to any of the following:

- The role of a nutrient or other substance in growth, development and the functions of the body.
- Psychological and behavioural functions.
- Slimming, weight control, a sense of hunger or satiety, or a reduction of available energy from the diet.

The new law requires this list of generally accepted claims to be compiled by Member States by the last day of the month of entry into force of the regulation plus one year (i.e., January 2008). Then, after consulting the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the Commission shall adopt, in accordance with the procedure referred to in Article 25 (2), a Community list of permitted claims. This Community list will be developed by the last day of January 2010.

The third group concerns health claims based on newly developed scientific evidence and/or those claims that include a request for the protection of proprietary data. The procedure for these claims is set out in Article 18 and requires evidence of understanding by the "average consumer".

The fourth group of claims relates to reduction of disease risk² and to those referring to child development and health and must be authorised in accordance with procedures laid down in Articles 15, 16, 17 and 19 of the regulation for inclusion in a Community list. The requirements of the procedures include a proposal for the wording of the claim as part of the application for authorisation, verification by EFSA that the wording of the health claim complies with the criteria laid down in the regulation and an EFSA proposal for the wording of the claim, as well as the basic requirements for demonstrating scientific substantiation and consumer understanding.

The burden of measuring consumer understanding of claims falls mainly on the food business operator.

Health claim means any claim that states, suggests or implies that a relationship exists between a food category, a food or one of its constituents and health.

Reduction of disease risk claim means any health claim that states, suggests or implies that the consumption of a food category, a food or one of its constituents significantly reduces a risk factor in the development of a human disease.

The consumer and the new legislation

Recital 15 of the preamble to the new regulation helps define the notion of the average consumer and states:

"It is important that claims on foods can be understood by the consumer and it is appropriate to protect all consumers from misleading claims. However, since the enactment of Council Directive 84/450/EEC of 10 September 1984 concerning misleading and comparative advertising, the Court of Justice of the European Communities has found it necessary in adjudicating on advertising cases to examine the effect on a notional, typical consumer. In line with the principle of proportionality, and to enable the effective application of the protective measures contained in it, this Regulation takes as a benchmark the average consumer, who is reasonably well-informed, observant and circumspect, taking into account social, cultural and linguistic factors, as interpreted by the Court of Justice, but makes provision to prevent the exploitation of consumers whose characteristics make them particularly vulnerable to misleading claims. Where a claim is specifically aimed at a particular group of consumers, such as children, it is desirable that the impact of the claim be assessed from the perspective of the average member of that group. The average consumer test is not a statistical test. National Courts and Authorities will have to exercise their own faculty of judgment, having regard to the case-law of the Court of Justice, to determine the typical reaction of the average consumer in a given case."

The legislation does not describe in detail what level and format of evidence needs to be submitted as proof that the average consumer can be expected to understand the beneficial effects as expressed in the claim. But the conclusions are justified that:

- Some level of evidence to illustrate consumer understanding will be required in the claim approval process.
- The details of what this level of evidence requires are still to be defined.

Specifically, there are four key issues in the area of consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims regulation that seem key challenges for the consumer science community:

- (1) How is consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims to be defined?
- (2) How is the concept of the average consumer to be operationalised?
- (3) What methodology is required to deliver evidence for consumer understanding?
- (4) How can the consumer understanding part of the new legislation be made practical?

These issues were addressed in the working groups that followed the scientific presentations.

SESSION 1: REVIEW OF THE EXPERT GROUP WORKING PAPER

Peter Leathwood (Nestlé, Switzerland) summarised the ILSI Europe Consumer Task Force's Expert Group working paper (Leathwood et al., 2007) and presented an outline of the qualitative methodologies that could be used to explore consumer understanding of health claims (see also Williams, 2005). He underlined the importance of the processes that people use to understand and interpret claims, considering especially how the reader's own knowledge may be used to go beyond what is actually stated in the claim, and the different ways consumers can misunderstand health claims. This led to the conclusions that:

- Adequate understanding implies that the consumer makes inferences that are justified by the objective content of the claim without significant embellishment or exaggeration.
- These inferences may be influenced by other communication elements, so understanding of the claim needs to be tested in context.
- No criterion (in terms of the proportion of consumers demonstrating understanding) is available, even for current claims.

Participants pointed out that with regard to the idea of a criterion, one should be very cautious about setting numerical targets; levels of understanding are likely to vary across the member states and according to whether the science is well known or emerging. A case-by-case procedure is likely to be more appropriate.

Qualitative approaches

Qualitative methods cover a wide range of approaches including in-depth interviews (focus groups, etc.), observation linguistic analysis, semiotics, role-playing and many others. The aim is to understand the meaning of claims to consumers in a given culture, explore the logic(s) used to interpret them, identify aids and obstacles to understanding, create links between food and claim (appropriate combinations), identify meanings that are universal (shared by all), local (different between cultures) or individual (different within cultures) and finally, to explore, with consumers, how best to communicate different claims. Qualitative approaches provide insights into why people believe certain claims and not others, and importantly provide a valuable source of data to enable quantitative studies to be designed that are relevant and comprehensive.

Some participants felt that, as the qualitative work indicates that understanding is often influenced by consumers' pre-existing beliefs, it is difficult to get an independent measure of understanding a claim. One approach to resolve this problem is to explore consumers' understanding of the intended meaning of the claim. A second point raised was that, although the speaker proposed that qualitative work needs to be followed up by quantitative work, there are situations (e.g., for commonly and widely shared beliefs) where qualitative work alone is sufficient.

Quantitative approaches to health claims research

Hans van Trijp (Wageningen University and Unilever, the Netherlands) underlined that, when preparing a dossier to support a submission for a claim, quantitative research is essential but that little consensus exists as to how best this should be carried out. In general, consumers seem to prefer shorter health claims, expressed in normal language, rather than long, complex claims in scientific language, and consider that governments should approve claims. Also, consumers do not seem to differentiate between nutrient content, structure–function and health claims. Finally, there is some evidence that health claims on the front of the pack may reduce some consumers' search for back-of-pack information.

Participants agreed that the advantage of the quantitative approach is the numerical format of the results. However, this type of testing usually involves forced reading of the claim in an artificial environment. As the proposed definition of the average consumer (one who is reasonably well-informed and reasonably observant and circumspect) suggests that the claim would be read by such a consumer, forced reading is not unreasonable.

The decision heuristic approach

Peter Todd (University of Indiana, USA) noted that most studies of decision making in psychology and economics reflect a traditional definition of human rationality: the idea that people behaving rationally (should) use optimal decision-making strategies that assume unlimited knowledge, time and information-processing power. But, to understand the way that humans make decisions in everyday life, a more psychologically plausible perspective is required. Heuristics provides a useful approach for defining the sets of rules that people may adopt. Each heuristic specifies the order in which to search for information, indicates when enough information has been found so that search can be stopped and determines how the information found will be processed to make a final decision. The application of this approach to understanding how people understand health claims involves knowing how they process them to make decisions. These kinds of questions can be addressed through laboratory studies, including ones that track where people are looking for information about a product (on a label or on a web page description, for instance), or perhaps preferably in a more naturalistic shopping situation, though there the information search steps will be difficult to monitor.

Participants were interested in the various heuristics proposed, speculating on which might be involved in processing health claims. The simplifying strategies proposed emphasise that many consumers will not read the claims and may infer many things from a single cue (e.g., a front of pack symbol).

Purchase and consumption data: collection, analysis and utilisation

Peter Sträter (Südzucker, Germany) pointed out that purchase and consumption data contain information about observed purchase or reported use of consumer goods and services. Purchase data are collected at the point of sale, usually without the interaction of the shopper, who often purchases for a number of consumers. Consumption data originate in households and other sites of consumption. The data are mostly reported by the consumers themselves, either on an ad hoc basis or, in the case of panel data, as an activity that can go on for many years, with a slowly changing group of participants. Often, structural characteristics such as income, education, age and health are documented and it is possible to correlate the consumption data with these characteristics. With the help of econometric models it is possible to quantify relationships within the data to evaluate, for example, the impact of prices and advertising of goods, the roles of income, socio-economic status of consumers, or consumption patterns on the development of markets and segments thereof. Using information on individual packages it may be possible to estimate the impact that products with new claims might have.

Participants agreed that this methodology might be used to monitor the purchase of products containing health claims, with the possibility of analysing specific demographic segments.

SESSION 2: PRACTICAL EXPERIENCES FROM REGULATORY INSTITUTIONS

The Food Standards Agency (United Kingdom)

The challenge of checking and reversing the rise of obesity and diet-related disease is a key driver of nutrition policy in the UK. It is being addressed in many ways, such as providing consumers with information about nutrition, and through labelling that helps inform healthy eating choices. British consumers are increasingly conscious of the need to improve their diets and many are taking action. They are demanding more and better information to help them make informed choices. Gill Fine (Food Standards Agency, FSA, UK) presented consumer research carried out by the FSA into nutrition and health claims, which underlined that consumers have different expectations and different levels of understanding, and that there is a range of factors involved. The initiative on signpost labelling rests on extensive consumer research into how such labelling is understood and used, and the FSA considers this work provides a useful model for the study of consumer understanding.

Participants were interested in the FSA's work on signposts and traffic lights, asking if traffic lights had been tested for categories where the alternatives are only red or green? The FSA found that consumers expect there to be several colours and they do not see red as "never eat" but as "be cautious". In addition, any new system needs to be accompanied by a good information and communication campaign.

The US experience with health claims

Robert Earl (Food Products Association, USA) addressed the similarities and differences between the US and EU regulatory systems, arguing that in the USA there is a shortage of studies on consumer perceptions and understanding of nutrition and health claims. In the USA, on-pack health claims are regulated through the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and advertising through the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), whereas in the EU both product claims and advertising fall under the new legislation. In the USA, the burden of proof for health claims is with the Government as it is essentially a post-market assessment of new health claims. In the EU, the burden of proof for new health claims is on the food industry as pre-market authorisation is required. The USA has 12 so-called unqualified health claims, (nine from Significant Scientific Agreement (SSA) and three from the FDA Modification Act (FDAMA)) that are based on a consensus level of high scientific substantiation. However, all of these claims have qualified wordings that include "may" and "reduce the risk of". For these 12 claims, FDA has predefined the wording that can be used.

Participants asked if there was any evidence that this has contributed to healthier eating patterns. This is not yet known because there has been little specific research into this issue.

Health claims in Sweden

Anita Laser Reuterswärd (National Food Administration, Sweden) outlined current practice in Sweden concerning the code of practice for health claims, in use since August 1990. According to the Code, generic reduction of disease risk claims must be based on well-established connections between dietrelated diseases (or risk factors for these) and diet. Originally eight such connections were included. In 2003 a ninth (the connection between heart disease and whole grain) was added. The organisations responsible for the programme are the Swedish Food Federation and Swedish Food Retailers. The Swedish Nutrition Foundation (SNF) has an advisory role. Documentation submitted in support of a product-specific physiological claim is evaluated by an independent panel of experts appointed by the SNF Research Committee.

Participants noted that the speaker had observed considerable heterogeneity among consumers; some saying they need more information, others not; some need more education, others not; and that this will be very important for the working group discussions.

SESSION 3: PRACTICAL EXAMPLES FROM THE FOOD INDUSTRY

Spreads with plant sterols

René Lion (Unilever, the Netherlands) presented a case study on Becel/Flora ProActiv. The health claim for plant sterols is "clinically proven to actively reduce LDL cholesterol" and is based on the observation that, with appropriate intake of Becel, LDL reductions of around 10–15% are obtained within 3 weeks. The problems that arose in the EU regulatory process were:

- There was no consistent view in EU states on functional foods.
- Handling of claims was neither transparent nor predictable.
- Dialogue with regulators was sometimes difficult.

The problems with the claim approval process arose because:

- The process was still local and differed widely from country to country, ranging from total ban, premarket approval, to voluntary schemes.
- Communications via pack, print, TV and other means were often regulated/monitored by different authorities.
- There was little clarity as to the criteria for scientific substantiation. There were no guidelines from EFSA at the time of the workshop³, but PASSCLAIM (Aggett *et al.*, 2005) work on the judgement of the evidence has been published. Consumer tests were and are needed to understand how best to communicate the new ingredient, its effectiveness and the new positioning.

Participants noted that in future there would be more pre-testing of understanding before launch and this could include presenting the pre-education material to the European Commission.

Whole grains

Clare Chapman (Cereal Partners Worldwide, United Kingdom) showed that whole grain claims pose an interesting example of messages that are scientifically recognised as relevant to the majority of the population (in a similar way to "5 a day" fruit and vegetable messages) but which lack the recognition of regulatory authorities or governments in many countries. Epidemiological studies support the conclusion that whole grains protect against cardiovascular disease, diabetes, obesity and cancer, but around 90% of the population (in the UK and USA) do not eat enough whole grains. In order to encourage people to choose whole grain foods it is important to have authoritative messages and recognised, consistent claims. The USA has issued dietary guidelines to Americans to encourage increased consumption, but this has not yet been followed by other countries. In Europe there is an opportunity with the new health claims legislation to get whole grain claims on the generic list, and thus work towards consistent claims, which should help consumer understanding and recognition of such claims.

^{3.} The guidance document has been published by EFSA afterwards and at the time of the publication consumer understanding of claims is not a concern of EFSA but rather the concern of the Commission and National Authorities: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/science/nda/nda_opinions/claims/ej530_guidance_health_claims.html

Participants speculated that perhaps "made with whole grain" claims might produce halo effects so that the content claim would be interpreted as a health claim. Another point was that consuming a single serving a day was not sufficient and so a specific health claim would relate to at least three servings of whole grain per day. Participants wondered about disclosures for other ingredients in the product (mainly sugar). In these products, lowering the sugar level would almost certainly compromise consumer acceptance. If disclosures and additional nutrition information are required, they will be put on the product, consistent with any legislative requirements.

Probiotics

Michel Rogeaux (Groupe Danone, France) showed how both science and culture are involved in defining appropriate health claims. Science provides the factual basis for the claim, but claims are only useful if they are meaningful to consumers. This requires "understanding", combined with "attractiveness" (personal interest) and "exposure" (experience), each of the three dimensions supporting the others. This case study examined the launch of a probiotic fermented milk from Danone (Activia). The health claim is that "Activia helps to improve intestinal transit when it is slow". The case study showed that exact consumer wording about intestinal transit needed to be carefully adjusted to each culture. A combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches, with consumers, health professionals and communicators, was used to define the wording of the claim. Post-launch analysis of motivations for consumption also shed light on the progression of health claim understanding.

Participants were interested to understand the role of focus groups in the process. These were used to understand the interpretations on the part of the consumer on the possible consumer wordings. This was an interesting application because the basic message (improve intestinal transit) was delicate to communicate and difficult for many consumers to understand.

SESSION 4: CONSUMER PERSPECTIVES

A consumer research agency point of view

Benoit Tranzer (IPSOS, France) provided a consumer research company view, pointing out that for any research on health claims:

- The information collected must be reliable.
- Individual levels of understanding of the claim need to be assessed.
- Research must assess the consistency between the claim and the brand, and the potential influence of perception and attractiveness of the brand.
- The brand-behaviour effect (i.e., the ability of the claim to be persuasive in the context of the specific brand) must be evaluated.

To achieve these goals IPSOS uses methodology based on the following elements:

- The claim is tested both with and without the advertising.
- After screening for suitability, the spontaneous reaction of each respondent on being exposed to a
 picture of the product or the advertisement, the level of understanding of the claim, and opinions
 about how the brand will affect health and about the credibility, relevance, and differentiation of the
 brand are collected.
- Analysis of the perception of the product compared to the understanding of the claim (on its own), with and without the claim inserted in the advertisement, is evaluated.

Participants were interested in the concept of the efficiency of a claim and how this is related to understanding. They are different things. Claims can be well understood but have no efficiency in influencing consumer behaviour.

WORKING GROUPS

Working Group A: Impact of the regulation on market research and consumer science needs

The following topics were considered by the participants of Working Group A:

Implications of the new regulations for the design of studies, including the appropriate stimuli to use, and interpretation of results

Studies to investigate consumer understanding may use labels, shelf tests, product-related promotional websites, examples of endorsement of medical, nutrition or dietetic professional associations, and also adverts and other means used to promote the product in question by using claims. It was felt that the decision as to whether consumer research should be repeated in each country where the product is intended to be marketed should lie with the producer in considering the submission.

Practical concerns and benefits

In relation to the list of claims under Article 13 it seems that, for well-established claims, additional consumer research should not be necessary. This is important for small and medium enterprises (SMEs), who are less likely to initiate specific claim-related research.

Opportunities for consumer science and market research

The group concluded that more meaningful and rigorous approaches in consumer science and market research are possible based on the principles that have been described by the ILSI Europe Expert Group. These would ultimately lead to improved cross-functional interactions between different scientific disciplines as well as science and marketing.

Participants suggested that the variation in understanding that will be observed may be a problem. What happens if most respondents understand the claim but a substantial subgroup is misled? They also suggested that, with regard to the question as to whether it is necessary to provide evidence from all countries where the product will be launched or just in one country, the studies carried out will depend on the category of claim. Only for emerging science will there be a need to go through the full procedure.

Working Group B: Description of the average consumer and the intended consumer

The following topics were considered by the participants of Working Group B:

The implications of the new legislation for recruitment of appropriate consumers to take part in studies on understanding of health claims.

The influences of cultural and personal background and nutritional knowledge on consumers' understanding of health claims.

The consequences of the new definition of the average consumer on recruitment criteria for studies evaluating consumer understanding of health claims.

Proportionality

The working group first examined how, according to the type of claim, the definition of the average consumer and/or the required depth of understanding might vary. With the help of its legal members, the group concluded that proof should not be needed for all types of claim, and that more novel or serious claims will need more detailed evidence of consumer understanding.

Type of claim	Who?	Demonstration of understanding required?
Content claims	-	No
Closed positive list (health claims)	Member states, with the European Commission	No
Additions to list	Will depend on novelty?	Will depend on novelty?
Novel claims (reduced risk claims and novel health claims)	Food companies, directly with the European Commission	Yes

Details of the way a benefit is expressed are likely to vary over time because marketing strategy aims to keep brands alive and in the minds of consumers. For the European Commission to re-evaluate every new variant seems neither feasible nor useful. The working group concluded that the focus should be on the diet and health relationship. Core elements of the benefit translated into consumer language should be submitted to regulatory authorities and, when approved, used in all subsequent claim executions.

There is considerable variability among countries and regions across the European Union, thus "average consumer" in the regulation does not mean average European consumer, but average consumer in each of the countries involved. Since social, cultural and linguistic factors are important and country-specific, the working group agreed that member states should be responsible for examining the definition of average consumer used by the food industry in claim dossiers.

The group tried to draw up a list of average consumer characteristics. They agreed that the consumers participating in a test of understanding must be functionally literate in the language of the claim. There was, however, disagreement as to other characteristics. Some favoured using a representative sample of the adult population weighted towards intended consumers, buyers of the product category or household purchasers, according to the type of product and type of claim. Others proposed a focus on health-aware consumers. The group did agree that while it is essential to target intended users as outlined in the legislation, other consumers, also exposed to the claim, should be protected against being misled.

During the discussion it was pointed out that it is possible that the intention of the definition of the average consumer in the legislation was aimed at excluding some extreme consumers. A majority of participants were in favour of testing understanding with intended users rather than average consumers, but agreed that this depends on the claim.

Working Groups C and D: Identification of the strengths and weaknesses of each proposed methodology/ Definition of consumer understanding

As both groups reached the same conclusions, they are summarised together in this section. Both groups considered that a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches is likely to be needed when testing consumer understanding of health claims, while purchase/consumption data and heuristic approaches may be useful to address special questions.

A health claim can be understood as a speech act within the context of discourse between originators of the health claim (e.g., the food company) and consumers. The communication can thus been evaluated using the conversational maxims outlined by Grice (1975).

Evaluation of understanding should focus on "circumspect" consumers, who at least pay some attention to nutritional information, and should involve a two-step approach, starting with a small-scale qualitative study and following up with larger-scale quantitative research. This has the advantage that even small companies can afford the testing.

An example of the two-step approach

Small-scale qualitative study: The product with the health claim, together with a concept board of the planned advertising, is presented to focus groups or in individual interviews to generate interpretations of the health claim. A set of these interpretations are then selected to be used as statements in a large-scale quantitative study.

Large-scale quantitative study: The product with the health claim, along with a concept board of the planned advertising campaign, is presented to about 100 consumers together with a list of statements gathered in the qualitative study. They are asked to indicate which of the statements on the list they believe to be true about the product.

A control group of another 100 consumers answer the same questions, but are presented with the product and the advertising, without the health claim. This two-group design allows differences between groups to be attributed to the health claim.

To determine if a particular health claim is understood well enough, comparison with some benchmark is required. Unfortunately no benchmarks exist.

The output of the study will be the prevalence of agreement with different interpretations of the health claim, in comparison to inferences about the product without the health claim, and ideally, in comparison to some benchmark. At the time the dossier is submitted, results from a few key countries should be sufficient, but the dossier should include an outline of the kind of testing that will be conducted before the roll-out in the other countries.

One drawback of this methodology is the artificial study context, with forced exposure to the health claim. This is at least partially counteracted by presenting the health claim in the context of the product and the concept of the planned advertising campaign. Additionally, while acknowledging that many consumers might not read health claims very carefully when shopping, a circumspect consumer can be expected to pay sufficient attention to information on the package to generalise the results of the proposed study to a real-world shopping environment.

When designing studies to provide evidence for consumers' understanding of health claims, the following criteria need to be kept in mind:

- An experimental approach helps to disentangle inferences due to the health claim from inferences due to other information about the product.
- In quantitative studies, consumer-generated interpretations of the health claim should be used rather than interpretations proposed by the producer.
- One should provide as realistic a context as possible given the study design (e.g., advertising campaign concept boards).
- A benchmark (not yet available) is necessary to judge if a particular health claim is understood well enough.

Other methodologies

In some cases, post-marketing surveillance may be needed. For example, it can be used to test if the intended target group of consumers has been reached.

The heuristics approach is well suited to assess the effects of health claims on consumers' decision-making processes. An important question in this context is whether health claims induce some consumers to ignore other information on the pack.

Participants agreed that the distinction between literal meaning, intended meaning and realised meaning is extremely helpful as it allows the study to measure both understanding and absence of misunderstanding. They also agreed that there is an urgent need for more research to establish the proportions of consumers demonstrating understanding that one might expect to achieve in the various member states.

Some felt that the group's proposals focused too much on misunderstanding/misleading, whereas the regulatory text asks for evidence of understanding. Participants agreed that the spirit of the legislation was to focus on not misleading the reasonably circumspect consumer.

A minority of participants considered ingredient knowledge may be important, especially if several foods contain the ingredient.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Accurately translating the scientifically measured benefit into consumer language

Participants agreed on the importance of accurately translating the claimed benefit from scientific to consumer language. As illustrated by the presentations in this meeting, this involves a careful balance between keeping it simple and understandable vs. keeping it serious and scientific.

Who is an average consumer?

A unique feature of this legislation is that the average consumer is defined as being "reasonably well informed and reasonably observant and circumspect, taking into account social, cultural and linguistic factors". However, it is emphasised that this is not to be taken as a statistical test and that it is appropriate to protect all consumers from misleading claims. This generated a lot of discussion in the workshop and participants were left somewhat puzzled on how this would materialise in practice.

There was consensus that understanding by the intended consumer is essential in the provision of evidence. The problem is that other consumers will also be exposed to the claim so understanding among a broader group of consumers may also be needed to ensure protection of all consumers.

What proportion of consumers can be expected to understand a given claim?

There is very little information published on this point and there was a strong consensus on the urgent need for more research to establish the proportions of consumers demonstrating understanding that one might expect to achieve for existing claims in the various member states. Some suggested that if food companies agreed to release some of their findings into the public domain this would help establish realistic expectations in terms of the proportions of consumers understanding different claims.

Consumer understanding of new claims

Understanding by consumers of a really new claim is likely to be low at first, but can be expected to increase over time with repeated exposure to the information. Thus, for some new health claims, it is not very realistic to expect that full understanding can be developed before the claim is permitted in the market. This could be an added complication to the development of new health claims. A potential solution that participants suggested was an increased effort in education together with critical exposure to new health claims before they actually reach the market.

Methodology to deliver evidence for consumer understanding

The ILSI Europe Consumer Science Expert Group discussed four approaches used in marketing and consumer research for nutrition and health claims: qualitative, quantitative, heuristics and analysis of purchase/consumption data. It was recognised that, for providing evidence of consumer understanding as requested in the new legislation, a two-phase procedure will usually be sufficient. The first phase is based on spontaneous articulation of the associations that consumers have with the health claim. This identifies the range of inferences (correct and inappropriate) drawn by consumers. The second phase quantifies consumer responses on the most important inferences (some coded positive, some negative). It was felt that the scale of work required by this approach was within the grasp of SMEs. It was also suggested that for widely shared beliefs, qualitative work alone may sometimes be sufficient. Evidence obtained from heuristics research (to understand some of the psychological mechanisms) and analysis of purchase and consumption data (relevant to post-launch monitoring) were not felt to be essential to pre-launch authorisation.

There was a consensus that, although the idea of establishing norms for understanding and making invalid inferences was attractive, it would not help in practice as there is just too much variation between claims in terms of familiarity, complexity etc.

The workshop participants agreed on the following recommendations:

Recommendation 1

The proposed two-stage qualitative/quantitative testing methodology is a realistic vehicle for both SMEs and large companies. However, the actual methods used will depend on:

- The level of detail requested by the Commission and the European Food Safety Authority (particularly with respect to multi-country roll-outs).
- Agreement on a more formal definition of what is meant by "evidence that the average consumer can be expected to understand".

Recommendation 2

For competitiveness of the European food industry it is be important that:

- What is needed for authorisation is defined precisely so that it can be incorporated in the food business operators' internal business case evidence.
- It remains practical not only for multinational companies but also for SMEs seeking approval for health claims.

Recommendation 3

The food business should take a lead in pro-actively clarifying (together with other stakeholders) the criteria and level of evidence required. Food companies already collect a lot of this type of information for building the health claim business case internally and it is important that these processes are optimally aligned to European requirements in terms of level and format of evidence.

Final conclusion

The final conclusion from this ILSI Europe workshop is that food business operators face the challenge of submitting pre-market authorisation evidence on consumer understanding of (new) nutrition and health claims. Such evidence should be scientifically convincing, yet practical, and at the same time must sufficiently protect their intellectual property. It is therefore important that all stakeholders (the European Commission, the European Food Safety Authority, the Member States, consumer representatives, the market research and consumer science communities, the food business operators) work together to clarify further the consequences of this new legislation on research concerning consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims. This will aid practical application of the legislation and avoid complex trial-and-error that could disadvantage the competitive position of the European food industry.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

ILSI Europe and the Consumer Science Task Force would like to thank the Organising Committee members for their commitment to this workshop. In particular, they would like to thank Dr. Peter Leathwood, Dr. Hal MacFie and Prof. Hans van Trijp for acting as rapporteurs and for preparing this report. In addition, they would also like to thank Prof. David Richardson for chairing the Expert Group.

REFERENCES

Aggett, P.J., *et al.* (2005). PASSCLAIM – Process for the assessment of scientific support for claims in foods. Consensus on criteria. *European Journal of Nutrition* **44**:1–30.

Grice, H.P. (1975). Logic and conversation. In: Cole P, Morgan JL (eds) *Speech Acts*. Academic Press, New York, p. 41–58.

Leathwood, P., et al. (2007). Consumer understanding of nutrition and health claims: sources of evidence. *British Journal of Nutrition* **98**(3):474–484.

Williams, P. (2005). Consumer understanding and use of health claims for foods. *Nutrition Reviews* **63**:256–264.

WORKSHOP PARTICIPANTS

Dr. F. Bellisle	INRA – National Institute of Agronomical Research	FR
Ms. R-M. Carneiro	A+A	FR
Dr. C. Chapman	Cereal Partners Worldwide	UK
Dr. P. Clohessy	Procter & Gamble	BE
Dr. K. Cunningham	Coca-Cola	UK
Ms. C. De Backer	Procter & Gamble	BE
Ms. L. De Luca*	EFSA – European Food Safety Authority	IT
Dr. A. Dieckmann	GfK AG	DE
Prof. G. Durazzo	Consultant	MC
Dr. R. Earl	Food Products Association	USA
Ms. G. Fine	Food Standards Agency	UK
Ms. G. Fournier	Groupe Danone	FR
Prof. M. Gibney	Institute of European Food Studies	ΙE
Mr. N. Guggenbühl	Diffu-Sciences	BE
Ms. C. Guittard	Consultant	FR
Dr. G. Harzer	Kraft Foods International	DE
Prof. R. Hertwig	University of Basel	CH
Ir. A. Hoek	Numico Research	NL
Mrs. A-E. Jardy-Gennetier	Nutri-Health	FR
Dr. M. Kellerhals	Coca-Cola	BE
Ms. B. Kettlitz	CIAA – Confederation of the Food and	BE
	Drink Industries	
Dr. S. Kurzenhäuser	University of Basel	CH
Dr. A. Laser Reuterswärd	National Food Administration	SE
Dr. P. Leathwood	Nestlé	CH
Mr. R. Lion	Unilever Food and Health Research Institute	NL
Ms. D. Løvoll Warming	Danish Veterinary and Food Administration	DK
Dr. H. MacFie	Consultant	UK
Ms. F. Malherbe	ILSI Europe	BE
Ms. D. McCrea	Consultant	UK
Ms. H. Mejborn	Danish Institute for Food and Veterinary Research	DK
Dr. H. Mitchell	Danisco Sweeteners	UK
Mr. O. Murphy	Diagnostics Social and Market Research	UK
Prof. H. Przyrembel	Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (BfR)	DE
Prof. G. Rechkemmer	Technical University Munich	DE
Prof. D. Richardson	Consultant	UK
Dr. M. Rogeaux	Groupe Danone	FR
Prof. P. Rogers	University of Bristol	UK
Dr. C. Rompelberg	RIVM – National Institute of Public Health	NL
1 0	and the Environment	
Dr. S. Sanchez	Nestlé	CH
Mr. J. Savigny	Keller and Heckman	BE
Mr. A.L. Schmid	Royal Ahold	NL
Dr. R. Shepherd	University of Surrey	UK
Dr. A. Stafleu	TNO – Nutrition and Food Research Institute	NL

Mr. P. Sträter	Südzucker	DE
Mr. S. Thormahlen	Groupe Danone	FR
Dr. P. Todd	Indiana University	USA
Mr. B. Tranzer	IPSOS	FR
Dr. N. van Belzen	ILSI Europe	BE
Prof. H. van Trijp	Unilever	NL
Prof. em. P. Walter	University of Basel	CH
Dr. I. Wills	EUFIC – European Food Information Council	BE

^{*} Observer

Other ILSI Europe Publications

Concise Monographs

- Alcohol Health Issues Related to Alcohol Consumption
- A Simple Guide to Understanding and Applying the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point Concept
- Calcium in Nutrition
- Carbohydrates: Nutritional and Health Aspects
- Caries Preventive Strategies
- Concepts of Functional Foods
- Dietary Fibre
- Food Allergy
- Food Biotechnology An Introduction
- Genetic Modification Technology and Food
 Consumer Health and Safety
- Healthy Lifestyles Nutrition and Physical Activity
- Microwave Ovens
- Nutrition and Genetics Mapping Individual Health
- Nutrition and Immunity in Man
- Nutritional and Health Aspects of Sugars Evaluation of New Findings
- Nutritional Epidemiology, Possibilities and Limitations
- Oxidants, Antioxidants, and Disease Prevention
- Principles of Risk Assessment of Food and Drinking Water Related to Human Health
- The Acceptable Daily Intake A Tool for Ensuring Food Safety
- Threshold of Toxicological Concern (TTC)
- Type 2 Diabetes Prevention and Management

Reports

- Addition of Nutrients to Food: Nutritional and Safety Considerations
- An Evaluation of the Budget Method for Screening Food Additive Intake
- Antioxidants: Scientific Basis, Regulatory Aspects and Industry Perspectives
- Applicability of the ADI to Infants and Children
- Approach to the Control of Entero-haemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC)
- Assessing and Controlling Industrial Impacts on the Aquatic Environment with Reference to Food processing
- Assessing Health Risks from Environmental Exposure to Chemicals: The Example of Drinking Water
- Campylobacters as Zoonotic Pathogens: A Food Production Perspective
- Detection Methods for Novel Foods Derived from Genetically Modified Organisms
- Exposure from Food Contact Materials
- Foodborne Protozoan Parasites
- Foodborne Viruses: An Emerging Problem
- Food Consumption and Packaging Usage Factors
- Food Safety Management Tools
- Food Safety Objectives Role in Microbiological Food Safety Management
- Functional Foods Scientific and Global Perspectives
- Guidance for the Safety Assessment of Botanicals and Botanical Preparations for Use in Food and Food Supplements

- Markers of Oxidative Damage and Antioxidant Protection: Current status and relevance to disease
- Method Development in Relation to Regulatory Requirements for the Detection of GMOs in the Food Chain
- Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis (MAP) and the Food Chain
- Nutrition in Children and Adolescents in Europe: What is the Scientific Basis?
- Overview of the Health Issues Related to Alcohol Consumption
- Overweight and Obesity in European Children and Adolescents: Causes and Consequences – Prevention and Treatment
- Packaging Materials: 1. Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) for Food Packaging Applications
- Packaging Materials: 2. Polystyrene for Food Packaging Applications
- Packaging Materials: 3. Polypropylene as a Packaging Material for Foods and Beverages
- Packaging Materials: 4. Polyethylene for Food Packaging Applications
- Packaging Materials: 5. Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) for Food Packaging Applications
- Packaging Materials: 6. Paper and Board for Food Packaging Applications
- Packaging Materials: 7. Metal Packaging for Foodstuffs
- Recontamination as a Source of Pathogens in Processed Foods – A Literature Review
- Recycling of Plastics for Food Contact Use
- Safety Assessment of Viable Genetically Modified Micro-organisms Used in Food
- Safety Considerations of DNA in Foods
- Salmonella Typhimurium definitive type (DT) 104: A multi-resistant Salmonella
- Significance of Excursions of Intake above the Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI)
- The Safety Assessment of Novel Foods and Concepts to Determine their Safety in use
- Threshold of Toxicological Concern for Chemical Substances Present in the Diet
- Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy as a Zoonotic Disease
- Trichothecenes with a Special Focus on DON
- Using Microbiological Risk Assessment (MRA) in Food Safety Management
- Validation and Verification of HACCP

To order

ILSI Europe a.i.s.b.l.

Avenue E. Mounier, 83, Box 6

B-1200 Brussels

Belgium

Phone: (+32) 2 771 00 14

Fax: (+32) 2 762 00 44

E-mail: publications@ilsieurope.be

ILSI Europe's Concise Monographs and Report Series can be downloaded from: http://europe.ilsi.org/publications

ISBN 9789078637073

